Cabinet

Minutes of the meeting held on Thursday 10 February 2022 in the Town Hall, Royal Leamington Spa at 6.00 pm.

Present: Councillors Day (Leader), Bartlett, Cooke, Falp, Grainger, Hales, Matecki and Rhead.

Also Present: Councillors: Boad (Liberal Democrat Group Observer), Davison, (Green Group Observer), Mangat (Labour Group Observer), Milton (Chair of Overview & Scrutiny Committee) and Nicholls (Chair of Finance & Audit Scrutiny Committee and Labour Group Observer)

91. **Apologies for Absence**

No apologies for absence were received.

92. **Declarations of Interest**

Minute Number 102 - St Mary's Lands

Councillor Grainger declared an interest because she was a member of the St Mary's Lands Working Party.

93. **Minutes**

The minutes of the meeting held on 9 December 2021 were taken as read and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.

Part 2

(Items upon which a decision by the Council was not required)

94. Net Zero Carbon Development Plan Document

The Cabinet considered a report from the Programme Director for Climate Change, which set out the feedback from the consultation that was undertaken on the Net Zero Carbon Development Plan Document (NZC DPD) in Autumn 2021, and detailed the changes made to the NZC DPD in response to that consultation and included the revised draft of the DPD. It also sought approval to proceed with a consultation on the DPD under Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning Act (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.

At its meeting on 8 July 2021, the Cabinet agreed to commence a consultation under regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning Act (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 for the draft NZC DPD. The seven-week consultation commenced on 26th July 2021 and ran until 13 September 2021.

Since the consultation ended, a report of public consultation was prepared which captured the comments and objections raised during the consultation. This was set out in Appendix 1 to the report. The report of public consultation also set out the proposed response to the comments

and objections including those that needed to be reflected in revisions to the DPD or in updated evidence.

As a result of this, revisions were made to the draft DPD. The report set out the key changes and the revised draft was included in Appendix 2 to the report. These revisions sought to address the comments and objections and to clarify the DPD to ensure it was robust and effective once adopted.

A key part of the evidence base to support the DPD was the Viability Assessment. As a result of comments received relating to viability and amendments to the policies contained within the DPD, an update to the viability assessment was undertaken. The updated viability assessment would be published as part of the public consultation.

Further technical evidence was also produced following the Regulation 18 consultation to support the revised policies of the DPD and an Energy and Sustainability policy review was included in Appendix 3 to the report. This provided the technical justification for the proposed changes to the policies and would be published alongside the consultation draft of the DPD.

In addition, the Sustainability Appraisal was also being updated to address comments received through the consultation and to reflect the revised policies of the DPD. This would be published as part of the public consultation.

Officers were awaiting some updated evidence in relation to viability testing of the revised policies and an update to the sustainability appraisal and therefore sought delegated authority to make further amendments to the draft DPD prior to the consultation commencing, subject to these amendments not giving rise to substantive changes to the basis of the DPD as set out in Appendix 2 to the report. Delegated authority was also sought to finalise these two documents ahead of commencement of the public consultation where they would form part of the consultation and evidence base to support the DPD. Based on initial feedback and information provided from our viability consultant, officers had confidence that the majority of development types could be demonstrated to be viable when the policies of the DPD were applied.

A Regulation 19 consultation was the second stage of consultation when forming a Local Plan/DPD and it sought to address two key questions:

- Has the plan been prepared in accordance with all legal and procedural requirements?
- Does the plan meet the prescribed tests of soundness?

Following the Regulation 19 consultation, Council then had to decide whether it wished to proceed to submit the DPD to the Secretary of State for Examination. A further report would therefore be brought to Council in due course.

Should Cabinet agree to proceed to the Regulation 19 Consultation, an indicative timetable for adoption of the DPD might be as follows (note: there were many variables that might affect this timetable, e.g.

availability of an Inspector or whether any main modifications were required to be made and consulted upon):

- 1. Reg. 19 Consultation Mid-late Feb 22 Late March/Early April 22.
- 2. Input responses to Reg.19 Consultation into consultation database; review and summarise representations April 22.
- 3. Collate documentation for submission including recommended changes for Council/the Inspector to consider Late April 22.
- 4. Report to Council for approval to submit DPD to SoS for Examination 11 May 22.
- 5. Request to Secretary of State to appoint Inspector Mid May 22.
- 6. Inspector appointed and EIP process commences September 22.
- 7. EIP process closes September 22.
- 8. Inspector makes main modifications recommendations September 22.
- 9. Public consultation on main modifications October/November 22.
- 10.Comments returned to Inspector November 22.
- 11. Inspector publishes report December 22.
- 12. DPD is amended in accordance with the Inspector's report January 23.
- 13. Final version of DPD taken to Council with a report requesting the Council adopts the DPD February 23.
- 14. Adoption February 23.

This report provided feedback from the Regulation 18 public consultation that was undertaken on the Net Zero Carbon DPD in Autumn 2021. The report identified key changes that had been made to the DPD following the consultation and included a revised draft of the DPD. The report sought approval to proceed with a consultation under Regulation 19, a necessary step in the process of adopting a DPD.

Officers were content that the revised draft DPD provided a more robust version of the Plan that had responded to a wide-range of representations received through the public consultation. Crucially, in working with technical consultants with expertise in this area, it was considered that the policies within the DPD were suitably supported by evidence to demonstrate their suitability and viability.

In terms of alternative options, Cabinet could determine that they could not support the revised draft of the NZC DPD and ask officers to reconsider aspects of the draft DPD and subsequently bring a further report to Cabinet seeking approval for a revised draft.

This however would add delay in the process of adopting the DPD and therefore might result in further homes securing planning permission before the DPD was adopted and therefore adding to the problem that this DPD sought to address.

It should also be noted that in considering the consultation representations and arriving at revised policies, officers sought the support of consultants with expertise in this field and therefore believed that the revised DPD, as set out in Appendix 2 to the report, was robust and was backed by evidence.

Also, Cabinet could decide that they did not wish to proceed with the preparation of a NZC DPD.

However, this would mean that until national requirements to reduce carbon emissions from new buildings were introduced or policies were adopted in the emerging South Warwickshire Local Plan, then new development would be built in Warwick District that would be adding to the existing problem, thus not addressing the climate emergency. It was anticipated that Building Regulations would be improved in this regard during 2022 but the changes were not expected to go as far as the policies in this draft DPD in addressing the climate emergency. More robust national policy on reducing carbon emissions from new buildings was expected through the implementation of the Future Homes Standard, although new legislation for this standard was not expected until 2024 with implementation in 2025.

'Tackling Climate Change' was proposed to be an overarching principle that sat at the heart of the emerging South Warwickshire Local Plan. Therefore, robust policy that would see a reduction in carbon emissions was likely to be proposed in the Plan. However, the indicative timetable for adoption of the Plan was not until the end of 2025 and therefore significant levels of development was likely to go through the planning process in the interim period that wouldn't have notable carbon reduction requirements.

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee supported the report but expressed concern about maintaining the 40% affordable housing commitment when viability was questioned and asked that the Council investigated mechanisms to defend this through the planning process.

They noted that Appendix 4 - Net-Zero Carbon Development Plan Document: Revised Viability Study, a lengthy document, was only circulated late on the day of the meeting. This gave Members of Overview & Scrutiny Committee insufficient time to review it properly. The Committee was informed that the delay was due to unavoidable staff absence. The Director for Climate Change provided a brief verbal summary of the content.

Also, it was explained that Recommendation 3 in the report, that delegated authority should be given to the Head of Place and Economy in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Climate Change to make further non-substantive amendments to the draft DPD prior to consultation commencing, meant that Members would have the opportunity to feed through comments once they had been able to properly review the Appendix. If the changes requested were substantive amendments, then these had to be approved through Cabinet.

The Group leaders welcomed the report but stressed that we needed to defend the 40% affordable housing.

Public speaker, George Martin, addressed the meeting. In response to this and comments from Members, the Portfolio Holder acknowledged Mr Martin's view, but stated that his approach would not be viable.

Councillor Day stated that Members needed to back this motion politically and across the board as this report was set to "break new ground", so clear guidance and leadership was much needed.

Councillor Rhead then proposed the report as laid out.

Resolved that

- the report of public consultation (set out in Appendix 1 to the report) relating to the consultation, be noted;
- (2) the revised draft of the NZC DPD (set out in Appendix 2 to the report) as the basis of a further consultation under Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning Act (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, be supported;
- (3) in the event it is decided to proceed with a consultation, authority be delegated to the Head of Place and Economy in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Climate Change, to make further amendments to the draft DPD prior to the consultation commencing, subject to these amendments not giving rise to substantive changes to the basis of the DPD as set out in Appendix 2 to the report. Furthermore, authority be delegated to finalising the Sustainability and Viability Appraisals associated with the DPD for publication as part of the consultation; and
- (4) if the Council proceeds to a Regulation 19 consultation and officers subsequently advise to proceed to an Examination of the DPD, a further report will be brought to Full Council seeking approval to proceed to submit the DPD to the Secretary of State for Examination, be noted.

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Cooke) Forward Plan Reference 1,260

Part 1

(Items upon which a decision by the Council was required)

95. Election of Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Council 2022/23

In accordance with Procedure Rules, Councillor Nicholls was nominated to be elected as the Chair and Councillor Syson was nominated to be elected as the Vice-Chairman of the Council for 2022/23.

The Cabinet, therefore

- (1) Councillor Nicholls be elected as the Chairman of the Council for 2022/23; and
- (2) Councillor Syson be elected as the Vice-Chairman-Elect of the Council for 2022/23

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Day) Forward Plan Reference 1,258

96. Review of Warwick District Council Members' Allowances Scheme

The Cabinet considered a report from Democratic Services which brought forward the recommendations of the Independent Remuneration Panel following a review of Warwick District Members' Allowances Scheme undertaken in 2021.

The Panel was convened because under the regulations for allowances the indexation of allowances was required to be reviewed every four years which had expired.

The Panel was convened under The Local Authorities' (Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 (SI 1021) ("the 2003 Regulations"). These regulations, which arose out of the relevant provisions contained in the Local Government Act 2000, required all local authorities to establish and maintain an advisory IRP to review and provide advice on Members' allowances on a periodic basis.

All Councils were required to convene their Panel and seek its advice before they made any changes or amendments to their Members' Allowances Scheme. The Council must 'pay regard' to their Panel's recommendations before setting a new or amended Members' Allowances Scheme. On this particular occasion, the Panel was reconvened under the 2003 Regulations as it was not reviewed the allowances scheme since 2017.

The review was undertaken in August 2021 by the Council's IRP. The IRP comprised of:

Dr Declan Hall	An independent consultant specialising in members' allowances and support and a former academic at the Institute of Local Government,
	The University of Birmingham.
Christopher Purser	Former Independent Chairman of Warwick

District Council Standards Committee and former Governor of Warwickshire College. Previously the Group Treasurer of a multinational corporation. A Chartered Accountant and Chartered Secretary

Chartered Accountant and Chartered Secretary.

Alan Wilkinson Former Warwick District Councillor (for

Leamington Brunswick Ward) and Leamington Town Councillor; and Town Mayor. Previously a Sales Manager in a local electronic business. The IRP met on 4, 5 and 11 August 2021. The IRP meetings were in closed session to enable the IRP to meet with Members and Officers and conduct its deliberations in confidence.

All Members were provided a questionnaire addressing the issues that the IRP were required to consider. The questionnaire also had the methodological advantage of ensuring all Members were being asked a common set of questions, the main point being that all Members had at least one opportunity to exercise their voice during the review. Twenty-four Councillors responded to the questionnaire. A number of Members from across the Council were also invited to meet with the Panel.

The IRP met with the Chief Executive and the Democratic Services Manager & Deputy Monitoring Officer for factual briefings on political structures and constitutional changes since the last review and to obtain an overview on the challenges facing the Council.

The IRP took account of the range and levels of allowances paid in comparable local authorities, namely the four other district/borough councils in Warwickshire and Warwick District Council's eight nearest neighbours as defined by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy or CIPFA, which were used by councils for benchmarking purposes.

After considering this information the IRP produced the report and recommendations, as set out at Appendix A to the report.

The recommendations from the IRP were ones for the Cabinet to consider and determine what, if any, they felt should be recommended to Council. Officers set out the financial implications of these which the Cabinet need to be mindful of as well as the overall recognition for Councillors in the level of their allowances.

In terms of alternative options, the Cabinet could make a number of recommendations to Council about the Independent report. This was because within law they only had to 'pay regard' to their Panel's recommendations before setting a new or amended Members' Allowances Scheme. For this reason, Cabinet could recommend to Council, as an example, increasing the allowances to the value as proposed, but phasing these in over the next four years (the life of the scheme), or recommend that no changes be made and the current scheme be readopted.

The Finance & Audit Scrutiny Committee raised a question from one of the political groups about the rationale for adopting the recommendations of the independent review regarding the increase in Special Responsibility Allowances in the current economic climate. It received clarification about the decisions that the Council could take on the review, noting that the last review had been held in 2017 and there had been changes in the roles and expectations of those Councillors who held positions of responsibility and leadership subsequently as the review noted. It had no further questions on the review of the Scheme.

The Group Leaders welcomed the recommendations in the report and noted that it would be good for the Council as a corporate body to be reviewed by an independent panel.

This sentiment was echoed by the Leader, who stated that it was our civil duty to keep our democracy healthy, so it was in our interests to have this independent review. He also stated that this would increase diversity amongst future Councillors as it would no longer be a position limited to those who can afford it. He then proposed the report as laid out.

Recommended to Council that

- (1) the recommendations from the IRP as set out at Appendix 1 to the minutes be accepted but do not come into effect until Annual Council in May 2022; and
- (2) the IRP be thanked for their work and detailed report which clearly sets out the challenges faced and reasoning for their recommendations

Resolved that

- (1) the recommendations of the Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) be noted, following a review of Warwick District Members' Allowances Scheme undertaken in 2021, as set out at Appendix A to the report; and
- (2) subject to Cabinet agreeing recommendation (2) above, Cabinet asks officers to produce a draft Members Allowances Scheme for Council to consider at its meeting on 23 February 2022.

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Day) Forward Plan Reference 1,244

97. Public and Press

Resolved that under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 that the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following items by reason of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the paragraph of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, following the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, as set out below.

Minutes Numbers	Paragraph Numbers	Reason
98, 99	3	Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information)

The minutes of the following items will be detailed within the confidential minutes of the Cabinet.

98. Confidential Addendum and Appendices to Item 6 – General Fund 2022/23 Budgets and Council Tax

The Cabinet considered a confidential addendum which formed part of the decision made for Item 6 – General Fund 2022/23 Budgets and Council Tax. The details of this discussion will be included in the confidential minutes.

Part 2

(Items upon which a decision by the Council was not required)

99. Minutes

The confidential minutes of the meeting held on 9 December 2021 were taken as read and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.

Part 1

(Items upon which a decision by the Council was required)

100. General Fund 2022/23 Budgets and Council Tax

The Cabinet considered a report from Finance which informed Members on the Council's financial position, bringing together the latest and original Budgets for 2021/22 and 2022/23, plus the Medium-Term Forecasts until 2026/27. This would be presented to Full Council alongside a separate report recommending the overall 2022/23 Council Tax Charges for Warwick District Council.

The report presented a balanced budget for 2022/23, which the Council was able to achieve without having to reduce the services it provided but with a heavy reliance on reserves and an ambitious savings / income generation programme. Once again, the Council did not have to rely on New Homes Bonus to support core revenue spending and was able to allocate this funding to support specific project work, while also replenishing reserves.

No increase was proposed for Council Tax for 2022/23 which would erode the revenue base of the Council into the future. However, a charge for the collection of garden waste of £20 for 2022/23 was proposed from August 2022.

Regarding mandatory obligations, by law the Council needed to set a balanced budget before the start of the financial year. As part of this process, it needed to levy a council tax from its local taxpayers to contribute to financing General Fund expenditure.

It was prudent to consider the medium term rather than just the next financial year, taking into account the longer-term implications of decisions in respect of 2022/23. Hence, Members received a five-year Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) detailing the Council's financial plans, Capital Programme and Reserves Schedule.

The Local Government Act 2004, Section 3, stated that the Council must set an authorised borrowing limit. The CIPFA Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities stated the Council should annually approve Prudential Indicators. These would be included in the Annual Treasury Management Strategy report to Cabinet and Council in March 2022.

The Chief Financial Officer was required to report on the robustness of the estimates made and the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves. (This statement was made at Appendix 1 to the report).

The report was structured so as to build up and present a holistic view of the Council's finances for Members to assist them in considering the Budget and Council Tax proposals and associated matters. The report was structured as follows:-

- 2021/22 Revenue Budget update to the current year's budget.
- 2022/23 Revenue Budget details of main items included within the proposed 2022/23 Budget.
- 2022/23 Local Government Finance Settlement.
- Business Rates details of main drivers impacting upon the Council's share of Business Rates.
- Council Tax proposals for Warwick District Council level of council tax for 2022/23.
- New Homes Bonus details on the Council's allocation for 2022/23
- Medium Term Financial Strategy revenue projections for the Council for the next five years, taking into account latest information and decisions by Members.
- Reserves and Balances details on the funds held by the Council and the proposed usage thereof.
- Capital Programme details of Council's capital projects and funding thereof.
- WDC / SDC Joint Working.
- Appropriation of funding and balances proposals for the allocation of one-off funding allocations.
- Pre-planned Maintenance Programme agreement to the plan for 2022/23.

The current year revenue budget was last considered by Cabinet in December 2021 as part of the Q2 Budget Review report. At that time a £511,000 favourable position was forecast for the year, which was to be partly driven by non-ring-fenced Government grants.

Throughout 2021/22, expenditure/income was reviewed against budgets, with this helping to inform the Budget Process. Part of this process was to review the current year's budgets to ensure that they were up to date and relevant to the needs and requirements of the service areas. Budgets were reviewed throughout the year on a regular basis, and more formally through the Quarterly Budget Review reports presented to Members in September and December. Therefore, the primary focus of the report would be on the 2022/23 budgets.

However, there were some further notable changes that impacted on the financial position for the current year:

Expenditure Growth / Income Reductions

- Local lottery scheme currently not proposed to be taken forward at this stage (+£31k).
- Increased requirement on contingency budget during year as a result of it being over-committed (+£23k)

Expenditure Savings / Increased Income.

- Additional grants above those budgeted received in year across services, many of which were to support services impacted by COVID-19, including:
 - Rough Sleeping Initiative and Flexible Homeless Support Grant (-£130k).
 - Housing Benefit New Burdens, Administration and Local Council Tax Support admin subsidy grant (-£45k).
 - Land registry grant (-£90k).
 - Test and trace support Admin grants (-£54k).

Grant will be used in the first instance to offset the additional costs associated with interventions implemented throughout the year.

- Vistry Loan income to fund one-off legal costs (-£135k).
- Sale of Equity funds in year (-£400k).
- Delay to Kenilworth Leisure development (-£500k).
- New planning performance fee charges introduced in 2021/22 (-£33k).
- Utility savings due to closure of premises (-£43k).
- Staffing recruitment delays for fixed term reserve funded posts (-£35k).

As a result of the changes summarised above, a surplus of £1.425m was forecast to be achieved for 2021/22. The allocation of the surplus was discussed in section 1.12.2 of the report.

In preparing the 2022/23 Base Budget the over-riding principle was to budget for the continuation of services at the existing level. The following adjustments needed to be made to the 2021/22 Original Budget.

- Removal of any one-off and temporary items.
- Addition of inflation.
- Addition of previously agreed Growth items.
- Addition of unavoidable Growth items.
- Inclusion of any identified savings.

Core inflation of 2% was included in the proposed 2022/23 Budget. The exceptions to this were:

- Waste Contract (set at 4%, but subject to review in July before new contract commenced).
- Cleaning contract (2.6%).
- Business Rates (3.2%).

The following unavoidable growth was included in the Budget:

- A 2% staffing pay increase had been factored in for 2022/23, subject to pay negotiations.
- An increase in the National Insurance contributions, as agreed in the Autumn Budget statement.
- The interest paid on PWLB borrowing to support approved schemes including our contribution to the establishment of the Materials

Recycling Facility in Coventry, and the purchase of vehicles as part of the new waste collection service(+£500k)

 Increased cost of utilities due to the rise in wholesale prices (+£17,200).

As part of agreeing the 2021/22 Budget last year, a series of Budget savings were included. These continued to be monitored throughout the year and reported to Members as necessary.

The 2022/23 budget showed a deficit of £1.076m. The key drivers of the 2022/23 forecast deficit, compared to when the MTFS was presented to Members in December 2021 Q2 Budget report included:

- £936k reduction in anticipated garden waste income (see section 1.15 in the report);
- Increase in contingency provision for inflation, major contracts and ad-hoc developments in-year £800k.

Offset by:

- Increase in fees and charges above expected level (-£429k);
- Increase in forecast parking income (-£250k).

To present a balanced budget, it was proposed to use the 21/22 surplus (see section 1.12.2 in the report).

Appendix 2b to the report included details of the breakdown of the Budget over the Council's individual services.

The Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement was announced on 16 December. The settlement was for one year only and was based on the Spending Review 2021 (SR21) funding levels announced in the Chancellor's Autumn Budget. This was the first time since 2015 that, in the context of a multi-year Spending Review, the government had only provided local authorities with a single-year settlement. The hoped-for multi-year settlement was again not forthcoming, which continued to make financial planning very difficult for local authorities. The settlement was due to be confirmed by the Government in January/February 2022, ahead of local authorities confirming their budgets for 2022/23.

The Settlement included some specific grant funding for local authorities. Those relevant to this Council were:

Grant	2021/22	2022/23
	£000	£000
Lower Tier Services	147	155
Services Grant	0	238

The Services Grant was deemed to include funding towards the increase in National Insurance contributions due to come in from April 2022. There was no indication as to whether these grants would continue for future years.

Under the current business Rate Retentions scheme, 50% of rates collected were retained within local government, with a series of tariffs

and top-ups to redistribute the revenue between local authorities to reflect the individual "needs" of authorities, and to distribute revenue to non-billing authorities. For some years the Government was planning a move to a 75% scheme to give local authorities more incentive to encourage local businesses on the basis that the local Councils would get to retain a greater proportion of the tax revenue. Michael Gove, the Secretary of State, recently announced that the scheme would not alter from the current 50% scheme to 75% on the basis that this might not be in line with the Levelling Up agenda.

The other planned change to the Business Rate Retention system was for there to be a "Re-set" of the Baselines. Under the system, each authority had a Baseline, and got to retain a proportion of the additional tax revenues above this. Authorities such as Stratford and Warwick benefitted from this since the scheme began and operated well above Baseline. If there was a re-set to the Baseline, this would reduce the business rates that the Council retained substantially. For the third consecutive year the re-set was delayed, with it now expected to be from 2023/24. This delay was good news for the Council's finances, but it did present a stepped decrease in the Council's forecast Business Rate income from 2023/24.

The Business Rate Retention scheme was very complex, with many components and parameters which drove the funding, and the timing of that funding, that Councils received. The Council's Business Rate Retention projections were based on figures provided by Local Government Futures, a specialist consultancy that many local authorities subscribed to. Given the large fluctuations in the business rates, and the difficulty in projecting the revenue, it was important that the Council continued to retain a "Volatility Reserve". Any increased business rate revenue received in the year were allocated to the reserve, whilst any shortfall should be funded from the reserve. The balance on the reserve would be kept under review. The balance of the reserve was currently forecast to be £7.6m as at 31 March 2027. It should have been noted that an annual swing in revenue of £1m (which was quite possible with a "re-set"), would soon have this balance fully utilised.

In terms of Council Tax, as part of the Finance Settlement, the Government again confirmed that for District Councils, their element of Council Tax could increase by the higher of £2% or £5 for 2022/23. As £5 was higher than 2% for this Council, this was the maximum increase in Council Tax for 2022/23. Any increase above this level would be required to be ratified by a local referendum.

Both Stratford-on Avon District Council and Warwick District Council were relatively low taxing authorities, with Stratford ranked 19/181 District Councils for 2021/22 and Warwick 62/181, excluding Parish precepts (38/181 and 33/181 respectively if Parish precepts were included).

Increasing the Council Tax by the maximum would protect the Council's tax base and maximise Council Tax revenue. If the Council agreed a lesser increase than £5, this would erode the tax revenue of Warwick District Council from 2022/23 and for the proposed South Warwickshire District Council. A £5 increase would generate an additional £282,000 in 2022/23. If Council Tax was not increased, the Council's revenue income for all future years would be suppressed by at least this amount. With the

Council having to find further revenue savings in future years, the savings to be found would be that much greater. If savings in service provision were not found, it would be necessary to make reductions in services to enable the Council to be able to agree a balanced Budget in future years. Assuming Stratford and Warwick Councils formed the new local authority from 2024/25, it would be at that stage that Council Tax harmonisation should be considered. This was discussed in the December Cabinet report on the proposed merger. At this stage it was not possible for Stratford to seek an increase above the £5 towards harmonisation.

The Tax Base for 2022/23 was agreed at 56,400 Band D dwellings. This represented a reduction of 100 from what had been allowed for within the Council's Medium Term Financial Strategy. This reduction reflected the number of new properties across the District not coming forward as quickly as previously allowed for in the projections.

The 2021/22 estimated Council Tax balance in respect of Council Tax income for the current year was recently reviewed. This gave a total estimated surplus balance of £295k as at 31 March 2022. This balance was shared with the major preceptors in 2022/23, with this Council's element being £31k. This surplus balance again reflected the additional growth in properties across the district during the current year, and how the current year estimated tax base of 12 months ago was exceeded. Estimating the tax base was invariably very difficult, and frequently resulted in a deficit or surplus balance which would need to be financed subsequently.

The Medium Term Financial Strategy (discussed in section 1.8 of the report) included Council Tax increases for future years of £5 per annum from 2023/24. Any departure from this would need to increase the savings which needed to be agreed.

The recommendation within the report was for District Council's element of Council Tax for 2022/23 to remain at the 2021/22 levels. On this basis, the 2022/23 Council Tax for each band would be as follows:

	£
Band A	117.91
Band B	137.56
Band C	157.21
Band D	176.86
Band E	216.16
Band F	255.46
Band G	294.77
Band H	353.72

Members needed to bear in mind their fiduciary duty to the Council Taxpayers of Warwick District Council. Members had a duty to seek to ensure that the Council acted lawfully. They were under an obligation to produce a balanced budget and must not knowingly budget for a deficit. Members must not come to a decision that no reasonable authority could come to, balancing the nature, quality and level of services that they

considered should be provided, against the costs of providing such services.

For some years the future of New Homes Bonus (NHB) were subject to review, adding to uncertainty to its continuation. Following on from the 2021 Finance Settlement, local authorities could only expect to receive the "legacy payment" from 2019/20 in 2022/23, that was £1.278m for Warwick District Council.

The recent provisional settlement included new additional allocations for 2022/23 of £1.409m, bringing the total payments for 2022/23 to £2.681m. There were no legacy payments attached to these new allocations.

The Council continued to use NHB to fund one-off items, or to support reserves. This was in view of the uncertainty over future allocations, so it was prudent not to use this funding to support core revenue expenditure, with this revenue only factored into the Medium Term Financial Strategy once it was agreed for each year.

The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) was last formally reported to Members in December as part of the Q2 Budget report, with the profile for future years being as follows:

	2021/22 (Latest)	2022/23	2023/24	2024/25	2025/26	2026/27
	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000	£′000	£′000
Deficit-Savings Req(+)/Surplus(-) future years	-557	-1,258	-1,230	-1,900	-1,571	-1,107
Change on previous year	0	-1,258	28	-670	329	464

Once the changes outlined for 2021/22 and 2022/23 through the Budget Setting process were incorporated into the Strategy, the position of the MTFS was now as follows:

	2021/22 (Latest)	2022 /23	2023/ 24	2024/ 25	2025/ 26	2026/ 27
	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000	£′000	£′000
MTFS Q2 Dec 21 Deficit-Savings Req(+)/Surplus(-) future years	-557	- 1,258	-1,230	-1,900	-1,571	-1,107
Surplus transferred to Service Transformation Reserve (Approved Q2)	557					

Tax base reduced forecast		18	19	19	20	21
Council Tax 1 year Freeze		282	285	288	291	294
Green waste charges		936				
PWLB Borrowing		500	510	520	531	541
Equity Fund Income	-400					
Fees and Charges	-112	-63	-72	-80	-92	-105
Grants Received	-843	-393				
Inflation Contingency		100	102	104	106	108
Contingency for in-year developments		200	204	208	212	216
Contracts Contingency		500	510	520	531	541
Leisure Concession above forecast activity	-288					
Budget setting	-474	-56	266	122	-38	-77
IAS19 Pension Adj	692	310	310	310	310	310
Budget Setting MTFS Deficit- Savings Req(+)/Surplus(-) future years	-1425	1,076	904	112	300	743
Change on previous year	0	1,076	-172	-792	188	443

Section 1.12.3 in the report proposed how the surplus was to be allocated, including its use to balance the 2022/23 budget. The below table showed the MTFS once this was actioned.

	2021/22 (Latest) £'000	2022/23 £'000	2023/24 £'000	2024/25 £'000	2025/26 £'000	2026/27 £'000
Deficit-Savings Req(+)/Surplus(-) future years	0	0	904	112	300	743
Change on previous year	0	0	904	-792	188	443

New initiatives would need to be agreed over the next year to enable savings or additional income to be generated so as to remove the forecast

£904k deficit in 2023/24. By using the Business Rate Retention Volatility Reserve (BRRVR – see section 1.9.3 in the report) over the last few years, the Council gave itself some time to get new initiatives in place. However, it now needed to develop strategies above those already agreed for balancing its budget over the medium to long term to create a sustainable platform to deliver services. The Council already started realising ways to improve returns from its investments, in particular through the Local Housing Company, which would also have social benefits as well as economic to both the District and the Council. This would be discussed in greater detail as part of the updated Treasury Management Strategy, which would be presented to Cabinet in March.

Regarding reserves and balances, Members previously agreed that £1.5m should be the minimum level for the core General Fund Balance. This balance supported the Council for future unforeseen demands upon its resources. In order to consider a reasonable level of general reserves, a risk assessment was completed and was attached as Appendix 4 to the report. This showed the requirement for maintaining this minimum balance to mitigate against the risks that were identified, where other funding was not available.

The General Fund Balance was currently £3.34m, this being above the minimum level of £1.5m. The use of this excess balance was considered in section 1.12 in the report.

The Business Rate Retention Volatility Reserve (BRRVR) was used over the duration of the MTFS to help smooth the savings needed to be secured, with much of the shortfall being across the period 2020/21 to 2022/23 as a result of COVID-19. The BRRVR was currently forecast to have an unallocated balance of £7.6m as at 31 March 2027. Business rates were discussed in section 1.5 in the report, including the expected changes to Business Rate Retention which were delayed over the last few years. With the result of the expected changes in mind, the balance of this reserve should not be allowed to go below a level of £2.5m.

Within the report, two new reserves were proposed to allow for funding to be set aside for the planned merger with Stratford-on-Avon District Council. These were the Services Alignment Reserve, and the ICT Service System Alignment Reserve. These were discussed in more detail in section 1.11 in the report.

The full reserve projections were included within Appendix 5 to the report, alongside the explanation for each reserve. Some of the reserves would have additional commitments not reflected in the schedule, which would reduce the projected balances. It was also noted that some reserves were potentially over-committed, which would require further funds allocating in a future year.

In accordance with the Council's Code of Financial Practice, all new and future capital schemes must be in line with the Council's corporate priorities, including its capital strategy. A report supported by the necessary Business Case needed to be prepared for review and approval by Cabinet, identifying the means of funding and, where appropriate, demonstrating an options appraisal exercise had been carried out. Should there be any additional revenue costs arising from schemes, the proposed

means of financing such must also be included in the Report and Business Plan.

The Capital Programme was updated throughout the year as new and amended projects had been approved. Appendix 9 to the report, consisting of 5 parts, detailed both the General Fund and Housing Investment Programme (HIP) Capital programmes, along with their associated funding. Appendix 8 to the report detailed the variations to the capital programme as new schemes were approved and projects were updated. The most notable schemes were detailed below:

Scheme	Year	Amount	Financed From
Princes Drive Rail Bridge Refurbishment and Public Art Project	2021/22	£121k	Service Transformation Reserve
Warwick Gates Community Centre Extension	2021/22	£151k	External Contributions
Kenilworth Leisure Centres Refurb	2021/22 2022/23 2023/24	£957k £17.549m £467k	Capital Receipts / Borrowing
Decarbonisation Grant re Temperate House, Jubilee House and Sports Pavilion	2021/22	£902k	Borrowing
Frontline Vehicle Fleet	2022/23	£8.609m	Borrowing
Kenilworth Leisure Centres Fit-Out costs	2022/23	£697k	Leisure Options Reserve
ICT software Strategy	2022/23 2023/24 2024/25	£200k £100k £50l	_
Desktop Infrastructure, inc servers, network	2024/25 2025/26	£170k £221k	_
Recycling and Refuse Containers	2025/26	£80k	Revenue Contributions

Within the changes now proposed in the Capital Programme was £697k for the fit-out cost of Kenilworth Leisure Centres, which would need to be added to the overall scheme costs.

£765k was currently held in the Leisure Options Reserve. Of this, £740k was specifically allocated to cover revenue costs whilst the Kenilworth Leisure Centres were being developed in respect of:

- Costs of the operator this cost has now been allowed for in the changes to the concession from the leisure centre operator as a result of the impact of the pandemic.
- Revenue implications of capital funding this cost was included within the Budget and Medium Term Strategy.

As a consequence, it was not necessary to use the additional funding set aside in the Leisure Options Reserve as intended, with it now proposed to be used to fund these Fit-Out costs.

The vehicles associated with the new waste collection contract £8.609m would be purchased by Warwick District Council, with half of the cost then recharged to Stratford-on-Avon District Council.

Within the MTFS, no funding was allowed for Rural and Urban Initiatives from 2023/24 as part of the savings agreed in December 2020. If the scheme was to continue from 2023/24, additional funding would need to be found as part of future budget setting proposals.

Slippage and savings on existing schemes were also detailed within Appendix 8 to the report.

The Housing Investment Programme and associated funding were included within Appendices 9 parts 2 and 4 to the report. Additional borrowing was the primary source of funding for new construction and acquisition projects.

Appendix 9 Part 5 to the report showed the General Fund unallocated capital resources, which totalled £2.161m in 2021/22. The Capital Investment Reserve represented the largest share of this at just over £1m, for which the Council agreed the minimum balance should be £1m. Whilst the Council did hold other reserves to fund capital projects, it was be noted that these were limited and were reserved for specific purposes. In addition to the resources shown here, "Any Purposes Capital Receipts" were projected to total £8.3m as at 31 March 2022.

As a consequence of the Council agreeing in December 2021 to progress with SDC to form a new South Warwickshire District Council, funds were required to be set aside to support the alignment of the staff in both authorities. The sums proposed to be set aside were repeated below:

	2022/23	2023/24	2024/25	Total
	£000	£000	£000	£000
Cost of Service Integration Support - 1 off costs	500	500	500	1,500
Redundancy/Pension Strain	500	500	500	1,500
Terms and Conditions – Harmonisation – Salary protection	500	500	500	1,500
Total	1,500	1,500	1,500	4,500
SDC Share	600	600	600	1,800
WDC Share	900	900	900	2,700

These costs were proposed to be shared between SDC/WDC based on the number of General Fund Full Time Equivalent staff (that was excluding the WDC Housing Revenue Account). On this basis, £900k was included in the 2022/23 Budget funded from New Homes Bonus as included within paragraph 1.11.1 in the report, with similar sums to be funded as part of the 2023/24 and 2024/25 Budgets. The proposed Budget for SDC allowed for £600k per annum for 3 years.

This funding was proposed to be set aside into a new Service Alignment Reserve, with SDC holding a similar reserve. Drawings against this funding should be shared proportionately between the two Councils.

At this stage, it was expected that there would be initial demand upon the "Service Integration Support – one off costs" in respect of primarily additional HR/ICT and Finance staff. As service alignments progressed, alongside the intended savings, there would be demand upon the Redundancy Costs/Pension Strain.

Terms and Conditions – Harmonisation – Salary protection costs would not be incurred until the Councils agreed the approach to harmonising terms and conditions.

It was proposed that drawdown from the Service Alignment Reserve be delegated to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Head of Finance, Leader of the Council, Resources Portfolio Holder and Chief Executive for Stratford DC. Similar arrangements were proposed for SDC. In drawing down funding, each element of the overall Reserve should be ring-fenced to the three constituent parts.

In addition to the service alignment costs considered here, there would be further ICT system replacement costs as the two authorities seek to align systems.

These costs were not allowed for elsewhere. It was proposed that £0.5m from the General Fund Balance be allocated to a new ICT Service Systems Alignment Reserve. Where funding was required, this would need to be subject to a Business Cases being agreed by the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Head of Finance, Leader of the Council, Resources Portfolio Holder and Chief Executive for Stratford DC. Similar arrangements were proposed for SDC.

It was proposed to bring a report to both SDC and WDC Cabinets considering the finances of both authorities. This was likely to include:

- A merged MTFS.
- Review of the savings plans of both Councils.
- Review and potential alignment of the reserves of both Councils.
- Any principles that should be applied both Councils in respect to the management and commitment of finances in the period before the proposed new authority comes into being.

The Council did have some balances and funding which it was able to use to fund specific projects and service demands. The sums available could be used to fund 'one-off' items only. Any initiatives that would result in a

recurring cost to the Council need to be accommodated within the revenue budget. The proposed usage of these funds and balances were detailed in the report.

As discussed in section 1.2 of the report, for the current year, the Council was forecasting a surplus of £1.425m for the various reasons outlined. Conversely, 2022/23 was presenting a significant deficit of £1.076m. It was proposed that the current year surplus be used to cover the 2022/23 deficit, with £300k being allocated to the Community Projects Reserve.

The Council's policy was for the General Fund Balance to be maintained at a minimum level of £1.5m, as discussed in paragraph 1.9.1 of the report. As at 31 March 2021, the unallocated balance was £3.34m. Within paragraph 1.1.6 in the report, it was proposed £0.5m of this balance would be allocated to a new ICT Service Systems Alignment Reserve.

Given the significant uncertainty the Council was facing over future funding, and potential increased costs relating to the proposed merger with Warwick District Council, this additional General Fund Balance presented additional financial security for the Council.

Regarding the New Homes Bonus, as outlined in section 1.7 in the report, the Council would receive £2.681m in 2022/23. As part of the Budget setting report agreed by Members in February 2021, £1.278m of this allocation was already allocated as the Council expected to receive 'legacy payments'. Therefore, the table below outlined previously agreed and new proposals.

New Homes Bonus 2022/23	Approved Feb 2021 £'000	New proposals £'000	
Commonwealth Games Reserve – agreed 5 annual allocations per Executive March 2018	150		
Climate Change year 2 of 3, agreed within February 2020 Budget report (substitute Calculations). Cost of post shared with Stratford DC.	52		
Platform (previously Waterloo) Housing Group - Joint Venture Commitment	45	150	
Voluntary/Community Sector Commissioning – funded from NHB not core budget, as per December 2020 Executive. Funding from 2023/24 to be considered for 2023/24 Budget.	282		*
Rural and Capital Initiatives Grants – funded from NHB not core budget as per December 2020 Executive. Allocation reduced from £150k in view of many towns/parishes now in receipt of CIL. Funding from 2023/24 to be considered for 2023/24 Budget.	100		*
Public Amenity Reserve – to fund work on Council play areas and open spaces	270		
Joint Local Plan – required to match SDC funding, further contributions required in future years.	200	100	*
Future High Street Fund	119		

Total Allocated	1,2/0	2,681	
Total	1,278	1,409	
Service Transformation Reserve		89	
funding			
Disabled Facilities Grants – HEART scheme additional		5	
Tree planting		140	*
to be considered for inclusion in the 2023/24 Budget.			
Cabinet. Additional funding for 2023/24 would need			
be subject to a further report being agreed by			
for 2022/23 and 2023/24. The use of this funding will			
the contribution from both SDC and WDC to £100k			
Shakespeare's England – it is proposed to increase		25	*
2023/24 and 2024/25.			
1.11.2. Further similar allocations required for		300	
SDC/WDC Joint Working – as discussed in paragraph		900	*
match funding			
Lord Leyster Hospital – underwriting of HLF award	60		

* Indicates further funding would need to be allocated for future years as part of 2023/24 Budget process.

As at 31 March 2021, the Council held £7.365m in useable Right to Buy Capital Receipts. This balance was projected to increase by £1m in 2022/23 to give an anticipated balance as at 31 March 2022 of £8.256m. Most of the balance was proposed to be used towards the Kenilworth Leisure Centre, as agreed by Cabinet in February 2021.

The proposed Planned Preventative Maintenance Budget (PPM) would enable the Council to proactively maintain all existing corporate assets (i.e. all assets owned by the Council other than its Housing Revenue Account homes, shops, garages and land) in a suitable condition unless or until any future decisions were made in respect of individual assets through a Corporate Asset Management Strategy.

The proposed budget allocation for 2022/23 was based on a review of the current PPM data by officers within the Assets Team, in consultation with building managers from other services which hold or operate specific assets. The Proposed Corporate Property & Planned Preventative Maintenance (PPM) Programme works 2021/22 was set out at Appendix 11 to the report.

For 2022/23, the total PPM budget was £803,600. This would be funded using £413,200 from the Annual Revenue PPM budget and a £390,400 drawdown from the Corporate Assets Reserve. This was expected to leave a £272,900 balance as at 31 March 2022. Further detail of the PPM funding was also set out with Appendix 11 to the report.

Article 14 of the Constitution specified when contracts needed to be signed under seal, this being contracts over £50,000. The Code of Procurement Practice was updated earlier this year so any contract with a value exceeding sums specified in the Public Contracts Directive must be made under the common seal of the Council. Accordingly, it recommended that Article 14 of the Constitution is updated to read:

Any Contract entered into on behalf of the local authority in course of the discharge of an executive function shall be made in writing. Any contract with value exceeding fifty thousand pounds (£50,000) sums specified in the Public Contracts Directive must be made under the common seal of the Council"

The introduction of charging for garden waste services was discussed with Members in 2020 when the decision was taken to work in partnership with Stratford District Council (SDC) to introduce a new '123' waste collection service from August 2022. SDC decided in 2019 to introduce garden waste charges but delayed implementation for a year because of the pandemic. As WDC did not have a green waste charge in place, this was the only area not fully aligned between the two Councils for the 2022 contract. SDC went live with charging in April 2021 with a charge of £40. Take-up significantly surpassed expectations with approx.48,000 subscribers (76%) resulting in new income of £1.77m against a target of £0.75m.

The collection of garden waste was not a statutory service – i.e. one that the Council was obliged to provide, and therefore the Council might charge for this discretionary service should they wish to. Charging for garden waste collections became more common over recent years, providing a legitimate way to raise new income to contribute to the provision of expensive and front facing waste collection and cleansing services. Over 75% of Local Authorities in England currently charged for garden waste collections with prices ranging from £25 to over £90 per year. The average was around £46 per year. Average take up rates were around 40 - 60% of all households. WDC was the only District in Warwickshire that did not currently charge for the collection of green waste.

A charge of £20 per bin was proposed for the first year, from 1 August 2022, due to the service being provided for only two thirds of the year. For the first full financial year of the service, a charge of £44 per bin was proposed. Garden waste collection would be provided as an opt-in service. The introduction of garden waste charges was initially approved in principle as part of the budget proposals agreed in the December 2020 report 'General Fund Financial Update'. It was originally forecast that £600k of income would be generated by the service in 2022/23, rising to £900k by 2022/23.

The estimated income was revised in the Q1 Budget Report presented to Members in September 2021 to £1m p.a. from 2022/23, based on an implementation date of 1 April 2022.

However, with the charges not proposed to be charged until 1 August, in line with the introduction of the new waste collection service, the forecast was revised down to £64k in 2022/23, based upon the part year charge of £20 and a 5% take up to the service.

It was then forecast that the service would generate £1m from 2023/24, based upon a charge of £44 and a 50% take up of the service.

There was a cost of £1.05 for the issue and postage of each permit. Marketing and promotional costs would also be incurred. A £50k budget was already in place for 2022/23 to cover the start-up costs of the service.

It should have been noted that the new waste collection contract, due to commence 1 August, was agreed based upon a 50% take up of the service. Were the changes not to be introduced alongside the new contract, the cost of collection would increase (alongside any loss of income) due to the need to still provide a 100% collection service to all 51,700 households in Warwick District with a garden.

Appendix 12 to the report outlined an addendum to the Community Protection Fees, based upon a review of the Pest Control Service. This was outlined in the Fees and Charges report presented to Cabinet in November 21, but without the revised charges being included. These were now reflected in the appendix.

The review determined that the fees and charges needed to be increased in order to ensure the service was able to viable for the future. These fees, after careful consideration, were brought into line with those that were charged by Stratford-on-Avon District Council as part of a staged programme of team alignment.

The proposed fees introduced a fee for the treatment of rats and for the provision of advice or cancelled/no show visits. It was also proposed that reduced fees were also removed for those currently eligible. This was necessary in order to generate the required savings/income required by the Medium Term Financial plan. Careful consideration was given to implications of these changes to ensure the ability of the service to continue and to manage the impact of these changes on residents. Investigation highlighted that those persons engaging the pest control service for rats do so as the service was free of charge, no matter their financial situation rather than paying a commercial contractor (current national average cost £150). This was reflected in the large number of rat treatments the Council undertook in relation to the other pests treated. It should have been noted that the Council was not legally obliged to provide a full pest control service; it did however have a legal responsibility (statutory duty) to deal with pests on its own land and it also had an enforcement role to ensure that people took appropriate action to control pests on their own land or in their property. This duty was set out in the Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949, which dealt with rodent infestations, and the Public Health Act 1936 which covered 'verminous premises'. This enforcement was normally through the service of enforcement notices. WDC would continue to honour its land ownership responsibilities in relation to pest management.

There were two occasions for the exercise of the Chief Executive's powers in consultation with Group Leaders.

Firstly, support was sought for the exercise of the Chief Executive's emergency powers to conclude the lease negotiations for the occupation of the refurbished Spencer Street Church. The outstanding issue was to offer 16 parking passes free for the company which was to occupy the premises to use in the Old Town area. However, to be consistent this meant that we should make the same offer to other tenants (29 passes) for a five-year period. The cost going forward would then be incorporated into the rent review. The free passes would mean if used to the full extent an impact of £128,250 lost income over five years but would secure the location of a company and the employment it would bring with it to underpin the

Creative Quarter work as well as secure an occupier for an empty building. Four out of the five Group Leaders agreed. A disagreement by one was noted.

Secondly, the new ARG scheme to assist companies on a discretionary basis needed to be introduced as from 28 January. All Group Leaders agreed.

In approving the 2022/23 Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy as laid out in the report, the savings previously agreed needed to be fully achieved, together with further savings approaching £1m to enable a balanced Budget to be agreed in 12 months' time for 2023/24 to provide a summary of the proposals and reasons for it by way of a conclusion.

In terms of alternative options, the Council did not have an alternative to setting a Budget for the forthcoming year. Members could, however, decide to amend the way in which the budget was broken down or not to amend the current year's Budget. However, the proposed latest 2021/22 and 2022/23 budgets sought to reflect the decisions made by Members and make appropriate recommendations. Any changes to the proposed budgets would need to be fully considered to ensure all implications (financial or otherwise) were addressed. If any Member were considering suggesting changes to the proposed Budget, these proposals should be discussed (in confidence) with the Head of Finance beforehand to ensure all implications were considered, including funding. If appropriate, alternate Budget papers could be prepared for consideration by Council.

As discussed in section 1.6 in the report, the Council had the ability to increase its share of council tax by up to £5 at Band D for 2022/23. This level of increase was included in the Medium Term Financial Strategy for from 2023/24. If the Council was to increase Council Tax by £5 in 2022/23, this would generate an additional £282k, which would help to protect the Council's future revenue base. Given the significant level of new savings to be found in future years (in addition to the previously agreed savings, many of which have yet to materialise), this potential additional income from a Council Tax increase would significantly contribute to making the Council's finances more resilient on a recurring basis into the future.

The Finance and Audit Scrutiny Committee noted the questions that had been raised in writing by Councillors regarding the Budgets and decision on Council Tax prior to the meeting. Some Members expressed concern about the continuing impact of a freeze on Council Tax on the mediumterm financial position for the Council. The Committee examined the rationale for the assumptions on inflation, wage increases and other factors, the reserves position, the need for further savings, and noted the financial pressures and risks in the medium-term financial statements, notwithstanding that a balanced budget was being proposed for 2022/23. It also noted the CFO's statement at Appendix 1 to the report. Overall, the Committee was satisfied that appropriate statements had been made about the assumptions in the Budgets and MTFS, and in the statements of risk and projections that lay behind the proposals.

In response to questions from the Green Group Leader, the Chief Executive stated that the reason the car parking passes were introduced Item 03 / Page 25

at Spencer Yard was to secure a tenant for the Church, and to help ensure an end user for the Creative Quarter. He also stated that this was only intended to be in place for a period of 5 years, with the costs then being built into the 5-year rent review. The Chief Executive said that the passes were given to other tenants in the area to ensure fairness.

In response to questions from the Liberal Democrat Group Leader, the Chief Executive mentioned that the government had not yet decided if it would introduce free green waste charges, and on what basis they would subsidise it if it was introduced. He explained that in earlier consultations, the government estimated that a free green waste charge would only cost £18 per house for a whole year. This estimation was questioned, which was possibly why progress had been stalled recently. The Chief Executive stated that the Local Government Association estimated that if it were to be done fairly, the costs would be in the region of £2bn a year- a figure which "might have caused hesitation from the government". He proposed that if the government were to only give us £20 back because that's what we were charging for the first year, then we should argue that the £20 is a pro-rata rate. This first year discount was the line we needed to endorse.

A confidential addendum relating to the budget was circulated prior to the meeting, the details of which would be included in the confidential minutes. The proposals within the confidential addendum had been agreed by the Cabinet and therefore the budget proposals were amended to reflect this within revised appendices.

In addition to this the Leader proposed that:

- (1) a grant of £25,000 be made to the Hill Close Gardens Trust from the Community Projects Reserve subject to the business case being brought to a future Cabinet for approval and to consider a further tranche of grant funding.
 - The reason for this was that Hill Close Gardens in Warwick was a listed park and buildings owned by the Council but leased and run by the Hill Close Garden Trust. The Trust has relied upon some Council funding to maintain the Gardens and the services it provides. Previous revenue contributions have been £20,000 per annum but the cost has clearly increased. However, the Trust's business plan demonstrated that although the Trust brought in a significant amount of money it required Council support. An analysis by officers indicated that it would cost more for the Council to manage and maintain as a listed entity. It was proposed that a further report on the Business Plan be brought to the Cabinet to sign off and for grant aid going forward be considered.
- (2) the sum of £20,000 be made available in 22/23 from the Community Projects Reserve to support and facilitate the celebration of the Queen's Platinum Jubilee the protocol for agreeing the use of this sum to be delegated to the Head of Place and Economy in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Place and Economy.

The reason for this, was that this year was the Queen's Platinum Jubilee and it was anticipated that there will be widespread community celebrations. To facilitate this process the Council can Item 03 / Page 26

as it has for earlier celebrations would support local community activities through the availability for grants and support for events. It was proposed that a one off sum of £20,000 be made available from the Community Projects Reserve.

Councillor Hales then proposed the report as revised to include the additional expenditure as detailed in the confidential papers and additional grants.

Recommended to Council that subject to the inclusion of the additional expenditure as detailed in the confidential papers and additional grants as detailed above:

- the proposed changes to the 2021/22 budget as detailed in section 1.2 and notes the projected surplus for the year of £1.425m be approved;
- (2) the proposed 2022/23 revenue budget as detailed in section 1.3 of the report be approved and note that the shortfall on the year of £1.076m is supported by from surplus projected for 2021/22;
- (3) the Council Tax charges for Warwick District Council for 2022/23 be approved before the addition of Parish/Town Councils, Warwickshire County Council and Warwickshire Police and Crime Commissioner precepts, for each band with no increase from 2021/22 as follows:-

	£
Band A	117.91
Band B	137.56
Band C	157.21
Band D	176.86
Band E	216.16
Band F	255.46
Band G	294.77
Band H	353.72

- (4) the reserve projections and allocations to and from the individual reserves as detailed in Section 1.9 of the report, including the ICT Replacement, Equipment Renewal and Preplanned Maintenance Schedules be approved;
- (5) the General Fund Capital and Housing
 Investment Programmes as detailed in
 Appendices 9 parts 1 and 2 to the report,
 together with the funding of both programmes

as detailed in Appendices 9 parts 3 and 4 to the report, and the changes described in the tables in section 1.10 and Appendix 8 to the report be approved;

- (6) the allocation of project funding discussed in Section 1.12 and summarised in Appendix 10 to the report be approved;
- (7) drawdown from the Service Alignment Reserve and the ICT Service Systems Alignment Reserve be delegated to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Head of Finance, Leader of the Council, Resources Portfolio Holder and Chief Executive for Stratford DC;
- (8) the proposed allocation of £803,600 for the 2022/23 Corporate Property Repair and Planned & Preventative Maintenance (PPM) Programmes to fund the list of proposed works set out in Appendix 11 to the report and the drawdown of funding from the Corporate Asset Reserve of up to £390,400 to support the programme be approved;
- (9) article 14 of the Constitution be agreed to be amended to read as follows:

 Any Contract entered into on behalf of the local authority in course of the discharge of an executive function shall be made in writing. Any contract with value exceeding sums specified in the Public Contracts Directive must be made under the common seal of the Council;
- (10) garden waste charges be introduced from 1st August 2022, at a charge of £20 for the remainder of the financial year 2022/23; and
- (11) the addendum to the Community Protection Fees and Charges proposals set out in Appendix 12 to the report, operate from 1 April 2022.

Resolved that

- (1) the impact on the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) be noted due to changes detailed within the report, and how these changes are expected to be accommodated and how further significant savings need to be agreed and implemented before the Council agrees its 2023/24 Budget;
- (2) the updated Financial Strategy (Appendix 11 to the report) be noted; and

(3) the use of the Chief Executive's Emergency powers (CE(4)) in consultation with Group Leaders as set out in Section 1.17 of the report, be noted.

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Hales) Forward Plan Reference 1,201

101. Housing Revenue Account Rent Setting and Budget 2022/23

The Cabinet considered a report from Finance which informed Members on the Council's financial position for the Housing revenue Account, bringing together the latest and original Budgets for 2021/22 and 2022/23. It followed on from the HRA Business plan approved by Members in December 2021. The report presented a balanced budget for 2022/23.

From April 2020, a new national rent policy came into effect, which included the ability for Councils to increase rents annually by up to CPI (at September) + 1% per annum. The Council would increase rents for Social and Affordable rent dwellings by CPI at September 2021 which was 3.1% +1% with the total rent increase being 4.1% from April 2022.

Details of current rents and those proposed because of these recommendations were set out in Appendix 1 to the report. It was noted that from April 2016 Target Formula rents were applied when a dwelling became void and re-let, existing tenancies prior to this policy change continued under the historic rent regime with inflation linked in line with national rent policy.

Appendix 1 to the report contained the average rents for both Target Formula Rent and Historic Rent policy dwellings.

A comparison of the Councils proposed 2022/23 rents to Local Market Rents, National Formula Rent Caps and Local Housing Allowance Rents was set out in Appendix 2 to the report. The Councils Social Rents were 41% lower than the Local Average Weekly Market Rent. This meant that the Council's housing service reduced the cost of living for tenants, allowing more money to be spent in the wider economy and reducing the social welfare costs of helping lower income tenants afford their rent.

From April 2016 landlords were permitted to set the base rent as the Target Social Rent (also known as Target Formula Rent) for new tenancies. In the Councils case this represented a small increase over the social rent charged for tenanted properties and was projected to increase rental income in total by around £6,000 in 2021/22. These tenancies were subject to agreed rental policy to comply with the Welfare Reform and Work Bill 2016.

The Council adopted the policy to introduce Target Formula Social Rents on new tenancies issued upon a dwelling becoming void and re-let. This phased approach equated to approximately 400 dwellings per year transferring from the social prior rent policy to Target Formula Rents. Existing tenancies commencing prior to April 2016 would remain on the prior rent policy with rents being inflated by CPI+1 in line with Target Social Rents Dwellings.

New Affordable Housing Tenancies within the HRA would continue to have their rents set in line with the National Affordable Housing Rate which was 80% of the Local Market Rent in line with planning permission and grant approvals from Homes England.

Existing Affordable Housing tenancies would continue to pay 'Warwick Affordable' rents for the remainder of their tenancy to ensure there were no negative financial implications for existing tenants.

Affordable rents and 'Warwick Affordable' rents were inflated in line with national rent policy at CPI (at September) + 1%. CPI at September was 3.1% and so with the total rent increase was 4.1% from April 2022. This change was noted in the HRA Business Plan projections approved by Cabinet in December 2021.

The Council owned 24 Shared Ownership Dwellings at the time of writing this report. Shared owners purchased a % of the property from the Council and were required to pay rent on the proportion of their home which they do not own.

The shared ownership properties' rent increases were not governed by national rent Policy, but the Council adopted the Homes England (previously the Homes and Communities Agency - HCA) template lease agreement which included a schedule on rent reviews. Schedule 4 of the lease agreement determined that the rent would be increased by RPI (at November) + 0.5% from April each financial year.

RPI at November 2021 was 7.1% + 0.5% with the total rent increase being 7.6% from April 2022. This was a 6.2% increase in comparison to November 2021 when it was 0.9% + 0.5% totalling 1.4%.

The Council would continue to use lease agreements based on the existing Housing & Communities Agency (HCA) template lease for all new shared ownership tenancies.

Garage rent increases were not governed by national guidance although in recent years' consideration was made in regard to the level of increase applied to the garages. In 2020/21 as part of the HRA Rent Setting Report, Cabinet approved garage rents to be increased by 10% per year over a five-year period with following years being inflated by CPI. The Council did not have a formal policy for the setting of rents for garages, but the points below contributed to the decision to increase the rents.

Two different rent charges applied to garages depending upon whether the renter was an existing WDC tenant or not. There were also parking spaces and cycle sheds which were charged for Market Research showed that in the private sector, garages were being marketed in the District with rents ranging from $\pounds 40-\pounds 85$ per month (local market valuations last reviewed January 2021). The average monthly rent for a Council garage was currently £46.71.

Demand for garages fluctuated with some sites having waiting lists whereas there were vacancies on others. This affected the overall rent received value.

At the time of writing the report 32% of the total garage stock was void at the time of writing the report, worth approximately £324,200 in potential income in a 12-month period. Work to review each site to potentially reduce the level of voids and possibly attract additional income was in progress.

The Garage Rents increased by 10% per year from April 2021. For 2022/23, a tenant's weekly charge would increase on average by £1.08 per week from £10.78 to £11.86. Non-tenants also pay VAT on the charge, so VAT inclusive rates would increase by £1.29 per week, from £12.94 to £14.23. There were a number of Garages of non-conventional size which were charged varying rates, these rents would also be increased by 10%.

Regarding the HRA Revenue Budgets 2021/22 latest and 2022/23 base, the Council was required to set a balanced budget for the HRA each year, approving the level of rents and other charges that were levied. The Cabinet made recommendations to Council that take into account the base budgets for the HRA and current Government guidance on national rent policy.

Appendix 3 to the report summarised the adjustments from 2021/22 base budgets to the 2021/22 latest budgets and 2022/23 base budgets.

The Housing Investment Programme (HIP) was presented as part of the separate February 2022 report 'Revenue and Capital Budget 2022/23'.

The recommendations would enable the proposed latest HIP to be delivered and contribute available resources to the HRA Capital Investment Reserve for future development whilst maintaining a minimum working balance on the HRA of at least £1.5m in line with Council policy.

The dwelling rents were adjusted to take account of the loss of rent resulting from actual and anticipated changes in property numbers and changes based on the number of actual and forecast Right-To-Buy sales and acquisitions.

The following table summarised the figures in Appendix 3 to the report and showed how the latest 2021/22 HRA budget was calculated and how this changed from the original 2021/22 approved budget:

Original Approved Net HRA Operational Income Surplus 2021/22	£ (7,762,600)
Net Increase in Expenditure	570,300
Net Increase in Income	0
Latest Net HRA Surplus 2021/22	(7,192,300)

Key drivers of the increase in Expenditure budgets included:

 A Painting & Decorating Earmarked Reserve Request due to Covid-19 Pandemic related delayed works needing to be completed in the following year which temporarily increased the budget for one financial year. The EMR was approved as part of the Councils Financial Year End Report in August 2022.

As a result of the above variations to the 2021/22 HRA budgets, the forecast contribution to the HRA Capital Investment Reserve for the year would be £2.797m.

In determining the 2022/23 Base Budget, the over-riding principle was to budget for the continuation of services at the agreed level. The following adjustments needed to be made to the 2021/22 Original Budgets:

- Removal of any one-off and temporary items.
- Addition of inflation (contractual services and pay only).
- Addition of previously agreed growth items.
- Addition of unavoidable growth items.
- Inclusion of any identified savings.

The table below summarises the figures in Appendix 3 to the report and shows how the 2022/23 HRA base budget was calculated.

	£
Original Approved Net HRA Surplus 2021/22	(7,762,600)
Net Increase in Expenditure	240,100
Net Increase in Income	(1,272,900)
Original Net HRA Surplus 2022/23	(8,795,400)

Key drivers of the change in Expenditure budgets included:

- A net increase in Expenditure from General Supervision & Management of £240,100 consisting of:
 - o Reduction in Housing Repairs Supervision Costs (-£95,100).
 - Increase in Supplies and Services & Bad Debt Provision due to increase Covid-19 related arrears (+£8,600).
 - Increased Supervision and Management Costs linked with Salary inflation (£326,600).
- A £1,272,900 increase of HRA dwelling and Garage rents as per Rent Policy and Inflation.

A number of assumptions were made in setting the budgets for 2022/23.

Inflation of 2% was applied to general budgets.

- Rents The base rent budget in this report was a baseline calculated from the rental assumptions presented in the 2022 HRA Business Plan and as noted in paragraphs 2-2.7 in the report.
- Growth / Income Reductions from Unavoidable and previously committed growth were included in the Base Budget.
- HRA Capital Investment Reserve Any HRA operational surplus above the amount required to maintain the appropriate HRA working balance of £1.5m was transferred into the HRA Capital Investment Reserve to be used on future HRA capital projects. The 2022/23 Base Budget allowed for a £4,220m contribution to the reserve.

Notional Interest was charged to the HRA within the Capital Charges. This represented the cost of tying up resources in the asset. This was charged against HRA garages and shops at their Existing Use Value (EUV). HRA housing was not included in this calculation due to the assured nature of tenancies, restricting the council's ability to sell occupied housing assets.

In terms of Sheltered Housing Heating, Water and Lighting recharges for 2022/23, costs for electricity, gas, water, and laundry facilities were provided at some sheltered housing schemes and were recovered as a weekly charge. These utility charges were not eligible for Housing Benefit. Tenants were notified of these charges at the same time as the annual rent increase. Appendix 4 to the report contained the charges for 2022/23 which would commence on the 1 April 2022.

A policy of full cost recovery was adopted in the report to Cabinet "Heating, Lighting and Water Charges 2018/19 – Council Tenants' on 7 February 2018." Recharges were levied to recover costs of electricity, gas, and water supply usage to individual properties within one of the sheltered and the five very sheltered housing schemes.

The costs of maintaining communal laundry facilities were also recharged at those sites benefitting from these facilities under the heading of miscellaneous charges.

Utility costs were reviewed in line with Council contracts to ensure affordability. The gas and electricity used to deliver communal heating and lighting was supplied under the provisions of the Council's energy supply contracts. Other measures such as installing Photovoltaic cells (solar panels) at James Court, Tannery Court and Yeomanry Court in April 2012 assist with reducing tenant's costs with the electricity generated reducing consumption from the national grid.

The charges necessary to fully recover costs for electricity, gas, water, and laundry facilities in 2022/23 were calculated annually from average consumption over the last three years, updated for current costs, average void levels and adjusted for one third of any over-recover or under-recovery in previous years. The use of an average ensured that seasonal and yearly variations were reflected in the calculation.

The total cost to the Council in 2021/22 was calculated at £171,200 for Electricity, Heating, Lighting and Laundry and £34,400 or Water which was included in the Independent Living Service Charges budget in Appendix 3 to the report. This would be recovered by being recharged to the tenants of applicable Sheltered Housing Schemes with the service charges being itemised on Appendix 4 to the report.

It was recommended the review of the Housing Revenue Account Budgets and Rent revisions were approved to enable the budgets to be revised accordingly.

In terms of alternative options, the purpose of this report is to produce budgets as determined under the requirements of the Financial Strategy, in line with current Council policies. Any alternative strategies would be the subject of separate reports.

Garage Rents - The Council had discretion over the setting of Garage rents. It would be possible to set Garage rents higher than those proposed to maximise income; however significantly higher rents might make Garages harder to let and so reduce income. Similarly, rents could also be

reduced but this would reduce income to the HRA Budget when it was needed.

Dwellings - The Council had the discretion to decrease rents for existing tenants. However, following the negative impact of the previous rent policy of a four-year fixed 1% rental income reduction and the negative impact of the Covid-19 Pandemic; any decreases would further reduce the level of income for the HRA, which in turn could impact upon the viability of future projects and business requirements.

Shared Ownership - The Council did not the discretion to change the rent schedule for existing shared ownership dwellings, which was determined by the existing terms of the lease.

The Finance & Audit Scrutiny Committee supported the recommendations in the report.

The Portfolio Holder for Homes, Health and Wellbeing reassured Members that there had not been a single eviction by the Council during the pandemic. He then proposed the report as laid out.

Recommended to Council that

- (1) the proposed increase to rents for all tenanted dwellings (excluding shared ownership) for 2022/23 in line with National Rent Policy, as detailed in section 1.1 in the report, be approved;
- (2) the HRA Social dwelling rents for all new tenancies created in 2022/23 continue to be set at Target Social (Formula) Rent for Social rent properties be noted;
 - (3) the HRA Affordable dwelling rents for all new tenancies created in 2022/23 be noted and continue to be set at the standard National Affordable rent level;
 - (4) any new shared ownership tenancies continuing to adopt lease agreements based on the existing Housing & Communities Agency (HCA) template lease with rents increased by RPI + 0.5% annually be noted;
 - (5) garage rents for 2022/23 continuing to be increased by 10% per year, as detailed in section 1.4 in the report be approved;
 - (6) the proposed changes to the 2021/22 budget as detailed in section 1.5.5 in the report be approved;
 - (7) the proposed 2022/23 revenue budget, as Item 03 / Page 34

detailed in section 1.6.2 in the report be approved; and

(8) the Sheltered Housing Heating, Water and Lighting recharges for 2022/23, set to achieve full cost recovery (Appendix 4 to the report), be noted.

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Matecki) Forward Plan Reference 1,202

Part 2

(Items upon which a decision by the Council was not required)

102. St Mary's Lands

The Cabinet considered a report from the Chief Executive that set out the evaluation of the nesting bird protection measures undertaken last year, other comments received and proposed that the measures be continued for the next two years to allow for a longer period to review the impact. It also set out the review of the terms of reference and participation on the Working Party and required a further report on public participation to be prepared for further discussion, and the principle for all of the Council's work with groups on governance requirements.

In March 2021 the Cabinet received a report which agreed that:

"That the results of the St Mary's Lands Working Party's assessment of access be noted and the measures for controlling access to sensitive breeding areas be supported.

That a review after the breeding season be undertaken involving the St Mary's Lands Working Party and the review findings be reported back.

That the Executive reviews the basis of participation of groups on the St Mary's Lands Working Party.

That the St Mary's Lands Working Party's Terms of Reference; mode of working; and, the basis for public participation be reviewed and submitted to the Executive for approval."

That report was attached as Appendix 1 to the report.

The background to this decision was the need to introduce measures to protect ground nesting birds from disturbance over their nesting and chick rearing period (broadly February to August) on part of St Mary's Lands by introducing temporary barriers to people and dogs. Plan 1 in Appendix 2 to the report showed the areas protected. Plan 2 showed the proposed protected measures in the context of the whole of St Mary's Lands.

Prior to implementing the measures, advice was sought from Warwickshire Wildlife Trust, who supported the initial proposals. Karl Curtis, the Director of Reserves and Community Engagement at WWT, stated:

"To successfully breed, these species need wide areas of long grass, which aren't bordered too closely with other vegetation such as trees and

hedges, the area chosen is therefore the perfect habitat. It's essential that space is made for nature and by protecting the small area from disturbance for the breeding season means that local people's visit to St Mary's Land is enriched with the sweet song of Skylarks, just a stone's throw from Warwick town centre."

This measure was introduced and by and large was received well. The ecologist who carried out the initial evaluation undertook some repeat visits, and their subsequent evaluation report is attached at Appendix 2 to the report. It recommended a continuation of the protective measures as they were accompanied by an increase in breeding pairs.

However, the Friends of St Mary's Lands (FOSML) challenged the proposals and produced their own report. The report was presented to the Leader, Portfolio Holder and the Chief Executive and was attached at Appendix 3 and a response to it was attached at Appendix 3a to the report. In contrast though the Warwick Natural History Society (Appendix 4 to the report) supported the continuation of measures advised by the ecologist's report, as did the representative of the local wildlife group participating on the SMLWP. The professional opinion of the Council officers responsible for the management of the area also supported the measures.

The Portfolio Holder offered to host a site visit to discuss the differing views with a representative of the FOSML and the ecologist to see if an accommodation could be reached. However, the FOSML initially declined to participate but then suggested a meeting at short notice which the Portfolio Holder undertook but which the ecologist advising the Council was not able to be present. This site meeting generated some questions that would be responded to via an addendum.

Given that the period when measures needed to be introduced was near it was proposed that the protective measures be continued for this year and next, after which a full review was proposed. This would allow for a wider and longer-term assessment of the ecological impact and give a proper opportunity for public consultation based on evidence.

The decision in March 2021 also required a review of the terms of reference and governance generally of the Working Party. In addition, the Working Party was operating since 2015 and had largely worked well but the time had perhaps come to review and formalize it. It was proposed that the draft terms of reference attached at Appendix 5 to the report be agreed. It was circulated to all groups and their views were sought and would be reported.

The focus of the SMLWP moving forward was to oversee and co-ordinate the elements of the masterplan rather than focusing on the day-to-day maintenance issues. It was proposed that these were directed toward the Portfolio Holder and/or the two ward Councillors supported by the appropriate officers with the capacity to refer to the Working Party if the issue(s) was of wider significance.

The Working Party last met in January 2021. The papers for that meeting were always treated as private and confidential, given that it was an advisory body but sadly at the last meeting one party decided to make

public a draft paper the day after it had been discussed. The name of the Chair and other officers of that Group were not publicly identifiable to discuss this matter, and this raised an issue of openness and transparency especially given the emphasis upon the Council to behave this way.

The Council worked with many groups across the District, and many had registered as Charities, some ran web sites with the minutes of their meetings published and were open and transparent about their governance arrangements and their elected officers. This, however, was not universal.

It was proposed that where community groups were working with the Council that all participating groups and their representatives provided details of their Governance arrangements. If such details were not offered, then such groups should not be allowed to participate in the Council's deliberations until they did so. Some groups would however be new and inexperienced and would require assistance to put effective governance in place and this support was available.

There was still an outstanding issue to conclude on how the Working Party engaged with the wider community as it took forward the Masterplan proposals and it was proposed that this be subject to a further report.

The report asked Cabinet to note the impact from last year, approve the proposals to ensure protection measures were in place for ground nesting birds for the next two seasons and that the governance of the Working Party be updated to ensure that it remained effective.

In terms of alternative options, the Cabinet could decide to vary the protection measures or not undertake any albeit that carries potential reputational and legal implications.

The Cabinet could also vary or not require terms of reference or not seek to address the governance issues of the Working Party.

The Cabinet could decide to disband the Working Party and take forward the masterplan proposals separately.

None of the above alternative options above were recommended.

An addendum circulated prior to the meeting detailed the comments received from members of the Working Party about the report.

Councillor Bartlett stated that, following professional advice, there was a commitment to come back in two years to assess new data and protection measures. He also introduced the following amendments as a result of the comments taken from the stakeholders from St Marys Lands Working Party:

- (1) that the ecologist's report commissioned by the Council, the comments of the Friends of St Mary's Lands (FoSML) and those of other groups (Appendices 2,3,3a and 4) be noted;
- (2) that Cabinet agree to continue the protection measures as set out in Plan 1 to be implemented (i.e., the same as last year) and be

 Item 03 / Page 37

- continued for a further 2 years but are then subject to a full evaluation and review;
- (3) that authority be delegated to the Chief Executive and the Leisure, Culture and Tourism Portfolio Holder to agree the revised terms of reference for the St Mary's Lands Working Party attached at Appendix 5 subject to a prior meeting of the working party;
- (4) that a detailed report be brought to the Cabinet regarding the position where in a Working Party's or Partnership's agreed terms of reference, all organisations participating or working with the Council on projects or partnerships, for example, such as the St Mary's Lands Working Party (SMLWP) are asked to disclose their governance arrangements to ensure that they are open and transparent, and that non-disclosure of such arrangements will mean that such groups may therefore be excluded from participation; and
- (5) that Cabinet ask that a further report on how the SMLWP engages with the wider community be brought forward for consideration

He then proposed the report as laid out, including the additional recommendations.

Resolved that

- the ecologist's report commissioned by the Council, the comments of the Friends of St Mary's Lands (FoSML) and those of other groups (Appendices 2, 3, 3a and 4 to the report) be noted;
- (2) the continuation of the protection measures as set out in Plan 1 be agreed, and be implemented and be continued for a further two years, then subject to a full evaluation and review;
- (3) authority be delegated to the Chief Executive and the Leisure, Culture and Tourism Portfolio Holder to agree the revised terms of reference for the St Mary's Lands Working Party attached at Appendix 5 to the report, subject to a prior meeting of the working party;
- (4) a detailed report be brought to the Cabinet regarding the position where in a Working Party's or Partnership's agreed terms of reference, all organisations participating or working with the Council on projects or partnerships, for example, such as the St Mary's Lands Working Party (SMLWP) are asked to disclose their governance arrangements to ensure that they are open and transparent, and that non-disclosure of such arrangements will

mean that such groups may therefore be excluded from participation; and

(5) a further report on how the SMLWP engages with the wider community be brought forward for consideration.

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Bartlett)

103. Rural and Urban Initiative Scheme (RUCIS)

The Cabinet considered a report from Finance that sought agreement to a delegated authority to determine all future Rural / Urban Capital Improvement Scheme (RUCIS) applications and a reduction in the overall maximum contribution.

Historically, a RUCIS grant award was decided by Cabinet once the RUCIS Grant Scheme manager evidenced that an application met all the scheme criteria and had completed a recommendation report.

There was never an occasion whereby an application that had met all the scheme criteria was declined by Cabinet; there was no reason why an application should be declined if sufficient evidence was provided to show that it met all the criteria, it therefore made sense to implement an Officer Scheme of Delegation to make the decision-making process more efficient and responsive whilst also saving Member's time.

Historically, the annual RUCIS budget was £150,000, however, for this financial year it was reduced to £100,000 and was planned to remain at this level for the forthcoming years.

Initially the maximum contribution amount to projects was £50,000, however, a scheme review reduced this to £30,000 from April 2014. This reduction was to enable the scheme to help as many community organisations as possible within each financial year; by reducing the maximum amount to £30,000 as a minimum, the number of projects that the scheme could contribute towards increased from 3 to 5 per annum. With this year's annual budget reduction, the minimum number of projects that the scheme could contribute towards had now decreased from 5 to 4 per annum.

An analysis of the scheme was completed (excluding 2020/21 when the scheme was closed due to the COVID-19 pandemic), highlights included:

2013/14 to 2019/21 (Time period of an annual £150,000 budget and prepandemic);

- Lowest number of grants completed = 9.
- Highest number of grants completed = 11.
- An average of 10 grants per financial year.
- Average amount of £144,078 awarded per financial year.
- Average of three £20,000+ grants per year.
- Average of five less than £10,000 grants per year.

• 6 grants completed; scheme then closed for review and also insufficient funding remaining available (only £2,308 remaining with a pending application of £27,000 unable to progress).

In order to continue to help as many community groups as possible it was therefore recommended that the maximum contribution amount was reduced from £30,000 to £20,000 so that once again the scheme could contribute to a minimum of 5 projects a year although working off the averages noted above this was likely to be around 8 projects a year.

To maintain a 'robust' scheme, periodic reviews should be undertaken to ensure that the scheme criteria remained relevant and suitable.

Implementing an Officer Scheme of Delegation would make the decisionmaking process more efficient and responsive whilst also saving Member's time.

Reducing the overall maximum contribution amount would help to ensure that the reduced annual budget continued to support as many community projects as possible with the funds that were available.

In terms of alternative options, Members might choose to make no changes. This would continue a time-consuming decision-making process and potentially risk less community projects being supported each year due to the reduced annual budget.

Members could decide an alternative amount in which to reduce the value of the maximum contribution. This might potentially impact on the number of community projects that could be supported and/or may prevent projects from being completed.

Councillor Hales proposed the report as laid out.

Resolved that

- (1) authority be delegated to the Head of Finance to determine all future applications for grant funding in line with the RUCIS Grants Scheme Criteria, subject to prior consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder and that the Council be asked to update the Officer Scheme of Delegation accordingly; and
- (2) a reduction in the overall maximum contribution amount from £30,000 to £20,000 be agreed, for applications received from 1 April 2022 onwards, details as follows:
 - "Small Grant Scheme" projects with a total cost of up to £10,000 with a maximum contribution of up to 90% (providing the 'Environmentally sensitive'

aim is met) of the overall project costs (maximum of £9,000); and

 "Main Grant Scheme" – projects with total costs of more than £10,000 with a maximum contribution of 60% (providing the 'Environmentally sensitive' aim is met) of the overall project costs (capped at a maximum of £20,000).

If projects don't meet the 'Environmentally sensitive' aim the maximum contribution will be reduced to:

- "Small Grant Scheme" 80% (maximum £8,000)
- "Main Grant Scheme" 50% (maximum £20,000)

Recommended to Council that the Constitution be updated to reflect the revisions to the delegations as set out in (1) above.

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Hales) Forward Plan Reference 1,267

104. Deaccession of Human Skeletal Remains (Learnington Spa Art Gallery and Museum)

The Cabinet considered a report from Cultural Services. A group of human skeletal remains, including two skulls and several vertebrae, was given to Leamington Spa Art Gallery and Museum (LSAG&M) in 1914. They did not fall under Warwick District Council's (WDC) Collections Development Policy and their presence in the Arts Section's museum collection was not justified under the Department of Digital, Culture, Media and Sport's (DCMS) /Museums Association's ethical framework for curation, care and use of human remains.

Having carried out research into the issue, WDC's Arts Section concluded that the most appropriate course of action was to deaccession the remains from the Arts Sections Museum collection and transfer them to the Duckworth Collection at the University of Cambridge, following the DCMS/Museums Association ethical guidelines.

The recommendation followed a review of the human remains' relationship to the Arts Section's current Collections Development Policy. The human remains were part of the ethnography collection, which reflected the relationship between some of Leamington's residents and the wider world during the 19th and earlier 20th centuries.

The provenance of the human remains was not documented when they were acquired. Research suggests that they were most likely to have originated in India. This assumption was based on the donor's family history, and the Indian connections of two other names associated with

the remains. However, this identification was not conclusive, and precise details of their geographical, cultural, or religious origins cannot now be established.

Since they were more than 100 years old, the human remains fell outside the scope of the Human Tissue Act (2004). The decision on deaccessioning them should therefore be informed by the DCMS/Museums Association ethical framework for care, curation and use of human remains.

The ethical framework set out circumstances in which museums could justify holding collections of human remains. These included: scientific study; educational use in teaching medicine, osteology or allied practical subjects; display in an educational context.

There was no documentation or other objects in the collection to give context to the human remains. This severely limited their potential for use in research. Their retention therefore did not provide scientific benefits.

The Arts Section's Collections & Engagement team did not foresee any circumstances in which it would be appropriate or desirable to display the human remains. They were also not suitable for use in teaching medical or other practical subjects. Their retention therefore did not provide any educational benefits, either to visitors to LSAG&M or other local residents.

There was therefore no public benefit to retaining the human remains as part of the collection.

Since officers could not identify the exact origin community with any certainty, the options for repatriation or culturally appropriate disposal were limited.

The DCMS/Museums Association ethical framework suggested the following options: transfer to another collection where the remains could be retained and cared for in compliance with the ethical guidelines; repatriation to the origin community or cultural descendants; burial in a sealed container, in a designated location, with full documentation to be retained by the museum.

Neither the existing documentation nor the available techniques for scientific analysis could narrow down the origin of the human remains beyond a broad geographic area. This area was historically home to a wide range of cultural and religious groups. Since it was not possible to could identify the exact origin community, it was not possible to return the remains to their cultural descendants with any certainty. There was also no precedent for any UK museum to repatriate human remains to India, and no existing national policy or procedure in place to support this. Repatriation generally takes place only in response to specific requests, and no such requests had been received from India by any British collection to date.

Burial was not considered a culturally appropriate practice for the respectful disposal of human remains in the area where these remains originated. Since our primary motivation was to treat them with sensitivity and dignity, burial was not necessarily an appropriate course of action. However, DCMS guidelines did not support the use of cremation.

Transfer of the human remains to the Duckworth Collection would allow them to be cared for by a specialist curator. The collection included the remains of approximately 18,000 individuals and had in place a detailed policy on the curation and conservation of human remains. In this context, the human remains would be scientifically analysed and grouped with others from similar origins which would facilitate any future repatriation or respectful disposal.

This recommendation was in line with the policies of other museums with comparable collections. LSAG&M consulted with specialists in national and university collections, and with the Subject Specialist Network for Medical Collections, to establish current sector-wide best practice in these circumstances.

The Collections Development Policy stated that 'the museum will only dispose of objects for curatorial reasons'. The criteria for disposal included: 'Falls outside the Collections Development Policy'.

Such a disposal required the consent of the Council's elected leadership body: 'The decision to dispose of material from the collections will be taken by the governing body only after full consideration of the reasons for disposal. Other factors including public benefit, the implications for the museum's collections and collections held by museums and other organisations collecting the same material or in related fields will be considered.'

Given the reasons outlined above officers recommended that the Cabinet approve the deaccessioning of the human remains from the Arts Sections museum collection, and their transfer to the Duckworth Collection at the University of Cambridge.

In terms of alternative options, the human remains could be retained by LSAG&M, where they would remain in storage. Storage space at the Royal Pump Rooms was very limited. The decision to permanently store objects, with no expectation that they would ever be displayed or otherwise used, would increase the pressure on the available space. This would limit potential future acquisitions and decrease the resources available for other parts of the collection.

The human remains could be buried following DCMS guidelines, but this would be potentially insensitive to their cultural origins. They could also be cremated in accordance with culturally appropriate practices, but this would be in violation of DCMS guidelines.

Councillor Bartlett proposed the report as laid out

Resolved that the deaccessioning of the human remains from the Arts Sections museum collection, and their transfer to the Duckworth Collection at the University of Cambridge, be approved.

105. Housing Decant Policy

The Cabinet considered a report from Housing Services that set out the assistance available when it was necessary to move residents from their current home into temporary or permanent alternative accommodation in order to facilitate major repairs, modernisation, regeneration, or redevelopment works such as where the property was to be demolished. This process was referred to as decanting.

This policy did not apply to commercial or industrial property and did not include residents moving due to transfers at their own request, mutual exchanges or choosing to end their tenancy.

The policy outlined arrangements for the rehousing and financial compensation of residents in line with the Council's allocation policy and legal requirements in order to deliver vacant possession of affected properties and ensure effective use of resources. The policy supported specific plans to be applied to decant requirements where necessary to meet the particular needs and circumstances of individual estates, redevelopment schemes and works programmes.

The aims and objectives of the policy were to:

- explain the circumstances in which a tenant will be required to move;
- ensure disturbance and home loss payments are made consistently and fairly;
- explain what levels of compensation and practical help might be offered;
- set out criteria for allocating vacancies to households who are required to move;
- minimise disruption to households affected;
- protect our most vulnerable residents; and
- clarify decision making processes.

In an emergency or where major repairs or improvements were required, necessitating the tenant to move out temporarily to enable works to be undertaken, the Head of Housing or their nominated representative would approve decant arrangements under their existing general management powers.

In the event that a property or properties were to be demolished as part of a regeneration scheme or when properties exceeded their useful life, the policy would apply once Cabinet approval was given to proceed with the proposal (unless the property was deemed to be in an unsafe condition in which case, arrangements would be made on a temporary basis). Cabinet might, when approving such a scheme, supplement or amend the approach provided for by the policy if that was considered necessary to comply with legal requirements, address issues identified by an equalities impact assessment or to ensure the efficient implementation of the scheme. The approach to decanting would take into account scheme proposals, works requirements, and where possible would incorporate residents' choices to be rehoused temporarily or permanently, and residents' rehousing needs and preferences. Decant projects would be

underpinned by a housing needs survey of all affected residents and households and, for new or redevelopment schemes, a lettings plan where appropriate.

Consultation with affected residents would be undertaken by Housing Officers who would manage communication and consultation with residents and provide the first point of contact for advice and support for all households affected by the decanting project.

The decant policy would provide the means to manage the decant process for residents affected by the proposed schemes, ensuring suitable priority and time was given for this process and all legal requirements were fulfilled.

Providing the ability for minor changes to be made by officers to the policy enabled legislative and good practice changes to be swiftly incorporated. There was room within the policy for some discretionary payment and partial payments in advance. It was proposed that these decisions were delegated for expedience and to act upon the situations of individual households.

The Council had ambitious plans to improve and develop its housing stock and some of these proposals were likely to require exiting tenants to move from their homes whilst the work was undertaken.

The work required with tenants to enable such work would not be possible without having a Decant Policy in place that clearly set out the roles and responsibilities of the Council and its tenants.

From time-to-time properties were in need of urgent major repairs where it was not possible for the household to remain in situ. Recent examples included where high winds brought down trees which came down on the roof and where a vehicle left the road, crashing into a wall of a property rendering the property unsafe. The Policy identified the assistance available in such situations.

Where significant repairs, major improvements or demolition was required as the property was no longer fit for purpose, there might be no alternative option available other than to decant household/s to enable works to take place.

In the case of regeneration schemes, these would not be viable without residents being temporarily or permanently rehoused.

It would be an option not to have a policy and to exercise discretion on a case-by-case basis outside any framework of guidance. However, that would not be transparent and accountable and would risk unlawfulness, unpredictability, and unfairness.

It would also be an option to have a policy that offered only the minimum provision required by statute. However, that could impede the delivery of schemes, cause undue hardship, and risk a breach of human rights and equalities obligations.

Councillor Matecki proposed the report as laid out.

Resolved that

- (1) the policy at Appendix 1 to the report, be approved.
- (2) authority be delegated to the Head of Housing Services in consultation with the Homes Health and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder to make minor changes to the policy that are required to ensure it remains in line with best practice, Government Guidance and delivers clarity and consistency across the policy; and
- (3) authority be delegated to the Head of Housing Services in consultation with the Homes Health and Wellbeing Portfolio Holder to agree discretionary payments and discretionary compensation in respect of decant activities.

Recommended to Council that the Constitution be updated to reflect the revisions to the delegations as set out in (2) and (3) above.

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Matecki) Forward Plan Reference 1,272

106. Decarbonisation of Council Assets

The Cabinet considered a report from Assets which set out the proposed approach to decarbonising the Council's assets and specifically recommended how the money set aside from the Climate Action Fund for Asset decarbonisation would be utilised.

At its meeting on 8 July 2021, the Cabinet agreed the following Climate Change ambitions:

- Ambition 1 Net Zero Carbon Council 2025: ensure the new South Warwickshire Council is net zero carbon within a year of its first elections (or both Council's separately by 2025), in the event that the Councils do not merge) and that services provided through contractors include carbon reduction targets to deliver net zero by 2030.
- Ambition 2 Low Carbon South Warwickshire 2030: to reduce net carbon emissions from across South Warwickshire by a minimum of 55% by 2030 and alongside this, plan how to further reduce carbon emissions to net zero by 2050.
- Ambition 3 Adaptation 2050: by 2050 to enable our environment and communities to have adapted to the potential of at least a 3 degrees rise in global temperatures by 2100.

Subsequently at its meeting in November 2021 the Cabinet agreed the joint Climate Change Action Programme (CCAP) which set out the first steps towards achieving the ambitions. The CCAP included a commitment to develop a deliver an Assets Decarbonisation Plan comprising a programme of works for decarbonising all Council buildings. Alongside this, Cabinet agreed to set aside approximately £450,000 over two year (2022/23 and 2023/24) from the Climate Action Fund to support this work – recognising that in reality the total cost of decarbonizing the Council's assets would be far higher and that other sources of funding such as grants would also be required.

Emissions from WDC/SDC's building assets accounted for more than 3000 tonnes of CO2e emissions in 2019/20. Excluding contractor emissions, this amounted to around 85% of the Councils' overall carbon emissions. The proposals set out in Appendix 1 to the report sought to provide the framework for decarbonising assets through the following stages:

- Making every kWh count:
 - There were numerous small changes that staff and managers could make which would make small savings. Initiatives such as turning heating down slightly, ensuring electric equipment was modern and turned off along with lights, when not in use.
- Quick Wins:
 Look at existing proven means of reducing carbon usage with minimal spend against maximum effect. Lighting, reviewing Building Management Systems (BMS) and reducing water flow were typically effective.
- Alterations to assets:
 This would look at physical improvements to the structure and physical use of assets to improve heat loss by whatever means.
 Installation of PV units would be included in this.
- Change from fossil to non-fossil fuel systems:
 Investing in new systems and to reduce fossil fuel for heating with changing heating systems, but also of looking at reducing the non-fossil fuel usage in other systems such as cooling systems.

Appendix 1 to the report provided some analysis of the opportunities and costs associated with specific buildings and proposed that in the first instance two main strands of work were pursued.

Strand 1 addressed opportunities in relation to "making every kWh count" and "Quick Wins". These were predominantly relatively simple and easily undertaken which:

- did not require significant specialist input and could therefore be undertaken by the Councils' in-house property professionals;
- could be carried out relatively easily and so did not require significant consultation with numerous stakeholders/third parties;
- dido not require planning or other applications other than those that were self-certifiable;
- still give good reductions in carbon usage; and
- dido not have excessive pay-back periods.

Strand 2 addressed alterations to assets. This strand had two subsections.

- Phase 1 Work to the fabric which would improve insulation and reduce heating costs
- Phase 2 Works involving changes to the heating systems. In both cases, these projects would:
 - deal with whole building solutions;
 - involve consultations with other stakeholders;
 - were complex projects requiring specialist consultants to appraise, design and to cost;
 - require longer term planning and would involve consents such as Listed Building etc with potential to impact on timescales; and
 - o may need advice when making any future grant applications.

It was recommended that the Councils proceed with both strands simultaneously but with the knowledge that the works in Strand 2 would take a good deal longer to come fruition. Strand 2 works would also be significantly more expensive both in preparing schemes and delivering the works.

It was proposed that the £225,000 available from the WDC Climate Action Fund for 2022/23 was utilised as follows:

Phase 1 was intended to utilise £165,000 to:

- review and change all lighting units to all properties to LED systems and where possible daylight and/or motion sensor controls;
- implement simple initiatives to reduce heat loss such as replacement of door and window seals and opening systems;
- install PV panels wherever these could be effective;
- review heating controls and upgrade these as appropriate; and
- review cooling systems and change to more efficient systems where possible.

Phase 2 was intended to set aside £60,000 (which would be used in conjunction with £30,000 from Stratford DC) to develop a detailed and prioritised programme of works. The highly technical nature of developing such a programme meant that we would need to draw on external expertise. This programme would form the basis for future funding and investment decisions. It would also underpin the Councils' proposals for future phases of the Public Sector Decarbonisation Fund.

Whilst it was not possible at this stage to be specific about the level of financial or carbon savings Phase 1 would achieve, the scope of works for each project would include an assessment of both financial implications and carbon savings. This would be key in deciding on the scheme's value for money and therefore whether to proceed. The total carbon savings achieved would be monitored and reported at least annually as part of the Service Area Planning reporting.

It should have been noted that a number of the initiatives proposed involved improvements to electrical systems (such as lighting). As the Council utilised a green electrical tariff (100% renewable electricity), these

initiatives would not impact directly on the Council's carbon emissions. However, they were important in terms of the decarbonisation of public sector buildings as a whole and would reduce the UK's overall carbon footprint.

Further, some of the Phase 1 schemes had the potential to reduce the Councils' energy costs. In these cases, it was proposed that a careful record of all the financial savings achieved was kept and that these savings be used to support the case for initiatives within Phase 2 that could give rise to increased revenue costs. This might be necessary because a number of the proposals in Phase 2 (for instance replacing gas heating systems with electrical based systems such as heat pumps) might increase annual running costs as a result of the current differential in the costs of gas and electricity.

The report set out how the Councils plan to reduce carbon emissions from the non-housing building assets by providing the basis for investment in quick wins, as well as setting the framework for future investments and grant bids. The phase 1 proposals were expected to make significant impact on the Councils' carbon emissions during 2022/23. The precise extent of this would be monitored throughout the as the scope of works for proposals were brought forward. The implementation of Phase 2 was expected to accelerate process as heating systems were decarbonised. This would provide the route toward achieving the ambition of being a net zero-carbon organisation by 2025.

In terms of alternative options, the Cabinet could decide to agree a different strategic approach to decarbonisation of assets. For instance, as an alternative the strategy could be to purely focus on a building-by - building approach. However, this was not recommended as there would be a need to carry out detailed and highly technical assessments before any work could be implemented. This would hamper the potential to achieve quick wins from the start.

A further alternative would be to carry out all the work in house. Whilst this would reduce the risks associated with the procurement of the phase 2 technical expertise, it was unlikely to provide such a robust programme of works as the in-house expertise was limited and resources were already stretched.

The Overview & Scrutiny Committee recommended that:

- (5) Standards set out by the Government for de-carbonisation and retrofitting and those the Council would apply, should be included within the report.
- (6) The Climate Emergency PAB, within the terms of its remit, be involved more in developing some of the schemes outlined in the report.
- (7) A schedule/plan showing when stages of the process would be implemented, and the expected impact as a result should be produced.

The Cabinet was required to vote on this because it formed a recommendation to it.

Councillor Matecki noted that this was an important paper that showed the Council's commitment to tackling climate change. Councillor Matecki was happy to accept the additional recommendations, and he then proposed the report as laid out, along with the three recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Resolved that

- (1) the strategic approach to Asset
 Decarbonisation, as set out in para 1.3 of
 Appendix 1 to the report, be agreed as the
 basis for future spending on non-housing assets
 decarbonisation and grant bids;
- (2) the funds agreed from the Climate Action Fund at the Cabinet meeting in November 2021, be utilised to deliver the proposals set out in paragraph 10.1 (Phase 1) and 10.2 (Phase 2) of Appendix 1 to the report;
- (3) the scope of works for each project that is brought forward under 10.1 of appendix 1 to the report, incorporates an assessment of the expected carbon savings to be achieved;
- (4) authority be delegated to the Head of Assets in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Homes, Health and Wellbeing to agree specific schemes within the scope of paragraph 10.1 of Appendix 1 (Phase 1) to the report, and within the budget identified in paragraph 1.8 of the report;
- (5) standards set out by the Government for decarbonisation and retrofitting and those the Council would apply, be included within the report;
- (6) the Climate Emergency PAB, within the terms of its remit, be involved more in developing some of the schemes outlined in the report; and
- (7) a schedule/plan showing when stages of the process be implemented, and the expected impact as a result be produced.

(The Portfolio Holder for this item was Councillor Matecki) Forward Plan Reference 1,270

(The meeting ended at 8.10pm)

CHAIRMAN

10 March 2022